
Mark Saccoccio 
Town Clerk 

  01525 631920
   info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

Meeting Room, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard LU7 1HD

3 October 2019

To:  Members of the Grants & Awards Task and Finish Group (Councillors M Freeman, 
R Goodchild, S Hemmings, C Palmer and P Snelling)
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information)

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Grants & Awards Task and Finish 
Group to be held on Monday, 14 October 2019 commencing at 10.45 am in the 
Meeting Room, The White House, Hockliffe Street, 
Leighton Buzzard LU7 1HD. 

M Saccoccio 
Town Clerk

AGENDA

1.  APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 

2.  APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR 

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

(i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s Register 
of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it. 
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 
the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by the 
Council (see Dispensation Procedure).

5.  QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 MINUTES PER PERSON; 15 MINUTES 
MAXIMUM) 

To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED *

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


GRANTS & AWARDS TASK AND FINISH GROUP Monday, 14 October 2019

any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order 
No.s 3(f) and 3(g). 

6.  TOWN COUNCIL GRANTS (Pages 1 - 20)

To receive information on the current General Grant and Guaranteed Grant 
schemes (attached) and to consider whether to recommend to the Grants and 
Awards Sub-Committee that any changes be made with effect from 1 April 
2020.  

7.  AWARDS (Pages 21 - 26)

To receive information on Awards (attached) and to consider 
recommendation/s to put forward to the Grants and Awards Sub-Committee in 
respect of awards from the municipal year 2020-21. 

8.  NEXT MEETING 

To consider whether a further meeting is required on 21 October 2019 at 1100 
hours in order to finalise recommendations in respect of agenda items 6 and 7, 
prior to the Grants and Awards Sub-Committee meeting on 4 November 2019.

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control.



Grants and Awards Task and Finish Group 

Date:  14th October 2019

Title: Grant Schemes  

Purpose of the Report: To consider whether to make any 
changes to the existing Grant schemes 
for 2020-21 onwards. 

Contact Officer: Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic 
and Central Services

Corporate Objective To ensure value for money, operational efficiency 
and a structure which will underpin current and 
future service delivery by the Town Council 

Implications:
Financial To consider any 

recommendations in terms of 
budget for 2020-21

Human Resources X
Operational/Service 
delivery

X

Procedural/Legal X

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

Should members be minded, the proposals are:

1.1 To consider whether to recommend to the Grants & Awards Sub-
Committee any changes to existing General and Guaranteed Grants 
budgets and schemes, from 1 April 2020. 

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Historically, the Town Council has used LGA 1972 s137 to provide community 
grant funding. 

2.2 Section 137 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972 is a statutory power which 
enables councils ‘to incur expenditure for purposes not otherwise 
authorised.’  It is only used when there is no other specific power available; it is 
a ‘power of last resort’. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



 
2.3 S.137 expenditure must benefit some or all inhabitants; cannot be granted to 

an individual and cannot be made retrospectively. Grant guidelines have been 
based on these restrictions. 

2.4 S.137 expenditure is restricted to a specific amount per elector within a parish. 
This amount varies each year in line with the retail index. For 2019-20, this 
amount is £8.12 per elector. S.137 expenditure must also be specified in 
financial reporting. 

2.5 The Town Council now meets eligibility criteria to use the General Power of 
Competence (GPC). GPC allows councils to do “anything an individual 
generally may do”, although it does not override any specific legislation in place 
prior to the Localism Act 2011 which prevents parish councils from taking 
specific actions. For example, GPC does not override the LGA 1894 legislation 
preventing grant funding to church owned property. 

3. CURRENT STATUS

3.1 The Town Council operates two distinct grant schemes for the benefit of the 
local community:

3.1.1 General Grants are: - one per financial year
- up to a maximum of £500
- not to be used for general running costs
- for a specific project to be achieved within a year
- exclude sport and arts related projects

3.1.2 Guaranteed Grants are: - for a four-year period
- may be used to support running costs

3.2 In both cases, grant recipients must demonstrate the benefit to residents within 
the parish of Leighton-Linslade. 

3.3 All sports and arts related grant requests are delegated to the Leighton-Linslade 
Sports Council and the Leighton-Linslade Arts Forum to administer. Both 
organisations receive Guaranteed Grant funding for this purpose. 

3.4 Guaranteed Grant applications were last invited in 2016 and are now in the final 
year of the four-year term. Applications for the next four-year term would usually 
be invited in early 2020, for consideration by the Grants and Awards Sub-
Committee on 11 May 2020.

3.5 General Grants are usually awarded twice a year. First round applications are 
invited for early in the financial year (April/May). Usually there is remaining 
budget and second round applications are invited in October/November.

3.6 The current annual budget for General Grants is £10,000.

Page 2



 
3.7 The current annual budget for Guaranteed Grants is £26,300. Guaranteed 

Grants are currently being received by 12 local organisations. 

3.8 Outside of both Grant Schemes, the following arrangements are also in place:

3.8.1 Leighton-Linslade Music Centre
A five-year Service Level Agreement between the Town Council, Central 
Bedfordshire Council (Inspiring Music) and the Leighton-Linslade Music 
Centre Trust, from 2016-17 until 2020-21.  A termly meeting takes place 
between the three parties. Current year funding is £8,675.

3.8.2 Citizens Advice Leighton-Linslade
A five-year agreement from 2016-17 until 2021-21, increasing by RPI 
each year. Current year funding is £21,627. CALL provide the Council 
with an annual report and statement of accounts, plus a report to 
committee.

4. CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The Task and Finish Group is asked to consider whether it wishes to make any 
recommendations for changes to the existing schemes, to take effect from 
2020-21. Such changes could for example include:

- Annual budget
- Criteria/eligibility
- Amount of funding available
- Term of guaranteed grants

 End. 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant Guidance Notes Page 1 of 4 

GENERAL GRANT PROCEDURES & GUIDANCE NOTES
Please read the information below in full before completing a General Grant 
application form.

SECTION 1: GENERAL INFORMATION

The Town Council is empowered under legislation to offer community grant funding, 
however terms and conditions apply. Please ensure you read the information below to 
determine whether your organisation or project may be eligible before completing the 
application form. 

A. WHO MAY APPLY FOR GRANT FUNDING?
Voluntary groups, registered charities or individuals operating on a not for profit basis 
for the benefit of the community in Leighton-Linslade. Organisations must have some 
form of management committee or steering group and a bank account with at least 
two signatories. 
If your organisation has previously received a General grant from the Town Council, a 
report on grant expenditure must have been provided before a new application can be 
considered. Only one General Grant may be received per financial year.
Priority will be given to those organisations which can demonstrate a clear financial 
need. 
If your organisation is a branch of a larger organisation, it should have a separate 
committee, constitution and bank account and a specific brief for activities benefitting 
the community of Leighton-Linslade. 

B. WHO MAY NOT APPLY FOR GRANT FUNDING?
Commercial operations or organisations which offer statutory obligations, for example 
schools. 
(School associations/PTAs may apply for a grant if the activity/project is extra 
curricular, subject to funds being ring-fenced and applicants having a separate bank 
account and constitution). 
Organisations representing the arts and sports should apply separately to the 
Leighton-Linslade Arts Forum or the Leighton-Linslade Sports Council. 

C. HOW MUCH CAN BE APPLIED FOR?
Up to a maximum of £500. Start-up groups without two years of financial accounts 
may apply for a start-up grant to a maximum amount of £250. 

The amount of grant funding to be approved will be decided by Committee and may 
be less than the amount requested. 

D. WHAT TYPE OF PROJECTS CAN BE FUNDED?

Page 5



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant Guidance Notes Page 2 of 4 

Projects or activities which can be completed within a year and will directly benefit 
residents of Leighton-Linslade. Priority may be given to projects or activities which 
support the Town Council’s objectives and aspirations for the parish. The aims and 
objectives of the project should be clear and well defined. 

E. WHAT WILL NOT BE FUNDED?
General revenue costs; loan repayments; rent; rates, council tax or utilities; insurance 
costs (other than public liability insurance); projects with high ongoing maintenance 
costs (unless the group can demonstrate it has the funds/skills to maintain them in 
future); religious or political groups (unless unrestricted community benefit can be 
demonstrated); activities that are part of statutory obligations, for example curricular 
activity in schools; activities that predominantly support people outside of Leighton-
Linslade; projects which have already been completed or items already purchased. 

F. WHEN TO APPLY
The deadline for first round applications for the financial year 2019-2020 is close of 
business (4:30pm) on Friday, 18 October 2019. Organisations which have already 
received a grant for this financial year may not re-apply for further funding. 

G. APPLICATION PROCEDURE
Applications will be considered by the Grants & Awards Sub-Committee at a meeting 
to be held on Monday, 4 November 2019 at 1930 hours at The White House. The 
meeting is open to the public and applicants are encouraged to attend. Applications 
will be assessed and decisions taken regarding the amount of any grant award by the 
Sub-Committee based on the available budget, the information provided, the benefit 
to the community and the sustainability of the project. 
Written confirmation of the decisions taken will be provided within ten days of the 
meeting. Payment will normally be issued to successful applicants within a month of 
the meeting. 

H. TERMS AND CONDITIONS
If there is a serious breach of terms & conditions, if the group ceases to operate before 
funds have been spent, or if a project does not proceed as planned, the grant will have 
to be repaid.
Anyone found to be acting dishonestly in making the application or spending the grant 
would be reported to the police and might face prosecution. 
All applications will be considered by the relevant Committee, where decisions are 
made to approve or refuse applications. The amount of grant funding to be approved 
may be less than the amount requested.  Meetings are open to members of the press 
and public, with meeting minutes published on the Town Council’s website. 
A grant may only be used for the purpose set out in the application form and it cannot 
be given to any other group.
Recognition of any grant made by the Town Council must be made in any publicity 
and in the group’s accounts.
The Town Council may ask you to attend the meeting at which the application will be 
considered and/or to attend a reception to receive the cheque. 

Page 6



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant Guidance Notes Page 3 of 4 

The Town Council reserves the right to amend any policy, procedures and assessment 
criteria for grants at any time. 

SECTION 2: GUIDANCE NOTES ON COMPLETING THE APPLICATION FORM 

SECTION 1: ORGANISATION AND APPLICANT DETAILS
Question 
no.

Question Guidance notes

1-11 Organisation details Please ensure you have completed all fields 
and provided accurate contact details for 
the main contact person.
Organisations must be non-commercial and 
primarily serve residents of Leighton 
Buzzard and Linslade. Organisations must 
have a constitution or agreed set of rules.
If your organisation is affiliated to a larger or 
national organisation, please confirm 
whether accounts are held separately. 
If your organisation works with children or 
vulnerable adults, please confirm that 
relevant safeguarding policies are in place.

12 Independent referee This should be someone who is familiar 
with the organisation and/or project, but is 
not a member/representative of that 
organisation.
Referees will only be contacted if deemed 
necessary by officers. 

13-20 Financial details and 
amount of grant funding 
requested. 

Please provide as much information as 
possible. The grant does not need to be a 
“rounded up” figure; if your organisation has 
a specific quote, please enclose this and 
specify the exact figure. We will consider 
whether project costs are appropriate and 
realistic.
Priority may be given to organisations which 
can demonstrate their own fundraising 
activity, additional sources of income for the 
project and/or a contribution in kind (e.g. 
volunteer time).
Organisations must have a separate bank 
account with at least two signatories. 
Payment of grant funding will be made by 
cheque or bank transfer. 

21 - 22. Project details Please tell us clearly and concisely the 
nature of your project/activity. 
Projects should demonstrate a clear benefit 
to residents of the parish. 

Page 7



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant Guidance Notes Page 4 of 4 

Priority may be given to projects or activities 
which will benefit a significant number of 
residents or which support the Town 
Council’s aims and aspirations for the 
parish (please see the Town Council 
website (publications page) for details of 
documents such as the Big Plan or the 
Three Year Plan 2015-2018). 

23. Project timescale Please note that projects or activities 
cannot be funded retrospectively. Please 
only apply for funding if the project/activity 
can be achieved within a year of receiving 
grant funding. 

24. Ongoing costs. Should the project require ongoing funding, 
please demonstrate how the organisation 
intends to achieve this. 

25-28. Supporting documents Please ensure you enclose the required 
documents with your application, or an 
explanation as to why these cannot be 
provided. 
Accounts may be draft if not yet audited.
Start-up organisations without two years of 
accounts should provide a copy bank 
statement and a business plan. 

29-36. Declaration and 
signature

The main contact person for the application 
should initial each point and sign below. 
The Town Council should be recognised in 
the organisation’s accounts and in any 
publicity concerning the project.
A report on grant expenditure should be 
provided back to the Town Council within 
twelve months of receiving the funds. A 
template report will be provided to 
successful applicants. The organisation 
may also supply a copy of its annual report 
and accounts, where appropriate. 
By signing, you give permission for the 
Town Council to retain and use the 
information provided.
By signing, you acknowledge that you have 
read and understood this guidance 
document. We recommend that the 
applicant keeps on file a copy of these 
guidance notes for future reference.

Should you have any queries not answered above, please contact Leighton-Linslade 
Town Council on 01525 631920.  

Page 8



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant application form  Page 1 of 4

GENERAL GRANT APPLICATION FORM

This application form may be used for General Grant applications of up to £500 in 
the financial year 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020. Organisations may only receive one 
grant per financial year.

Please refer to the Procedures and Guidance Notes documents when completing 
this form. 

SECTION 1: ORGANISATION AND APPLICANT DETAILS
1. Name of Organisation

2. Name and address of 
contact for this application.

3. Telephone number/s of 
contact for this application.

4. Email address of contact for 
this application.

5. Status of organisation
(if registered charity, please 
include number)

6. How long has the 
organisation been 
established?

7. Brief description of purpose 
of group.

8. Are you part of/affiliated to a 
larger organisation?

9. How many members do you 
have?

10. Is there an annual 
subscription/membership 
fee?

Page 9



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant application form  Page 2 of 4

11. Please provide contact 
details for another senior 
member of your 
organisation (e.g. a 
committee member)

12. Please provide contact 
details for an independent 
referee (someone who 
knows about the group and 
project but is independent).

If your organisation has a Constitution or set of agreed rules, please enclose 
a copy with this application form. 

SECTION 2: FUNDING
13. Total cost of project?

14. Grant requested
(maximum of £500)

15. How much has already been 
raised towards the project?

16. How will the balance be 
funded? (if applicable)

17. Has any further grant 
funding been sought for this 
project? (if so, please 
specify details)

18. Has the organisation sought 
more than one quote for the 
project?  (please enclose 
copies if possible)

19. Does the organisation have 
its own bank account with a 
minimum of two signatories?

20. Please confirm account 
name for the cheque, should 
the application be 
successful (or account 
details for bank transfer)

Page 10



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant application form  Page 3 of 4

Please include with your application:
a) Accounts for the last two years (draft is fine if not yet audited)*
b) Bank account details

*Start-up groups without two years of accounts may apply for a maximum of £250 and should 
enclose a bank statement and business plan with their application. 

SECTION 3: PROJECT DETAILS
21. Please briefly describe 

the project, including:
- Where it will take 

place
- How the 

community of 
Leighton-Linslade 
will benefit

- How the project 
supports the 
community

- How have you 
identified the 
need for this 
project?

- How will you 
assess the 
success of the 
project?

(if necessary please 
supply further details on 
a separate single sheet 
of paper)

22. How many people in 
Leighton-Linslade do 
you expect to benefit 
directly from the project?

23. Please advise the 
timescale for the project.

24. Will the project require 
ongoing financial 
support, e.g. 
maintenance? If so, how 
will this be funded?

Page 11



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant application form  Page 4 of 4

SECTION 4: CHECKLIST
Please enclose the following with your application:
25. Two years of accounts

(or for start-up groups, a bank statement & business plan)
26. Quotations for the project (if applicable/available)
27. Organisation’s Constitution or set of rules
28. Any other relevant supporting information regarding the 

project

SECTION 5: SIGNATURE AND DECLARATION
Please initial next to points 29-36 and sign below to acknowledge the terms 
and conditions of submitting this grant application.
No application will be considered unless this section is completed in full and 
signed by the contact person named in Question 2.
29. I declare that the information given is correct to the best of my 

knowledge and that any funds received will be used solely for 
the purpose detailed on this form.

30. I understand that the documentation supplied will not be 
returned and may be made available for public scrutiny.

31. I agree that the grant will be returned if the specified project 
cannot proceed.

32. I agree that, if successful, details of the project may be 
published by the Council.

33. I agree to supply a report back to the Council within twelve 
months regarding expenditure of any grant funding.

34. I confirm that I have authorisation to apply for a grant on 
behalf of the organisation. 

35. I understand that the information provided on and with this 
application form will be used by the Council to judge whether 
or not to award a grant and that this decision may be made at 
a meeting which is open to the public.

36. I confirm that I have read and understood the General Grant 
guidance notes issued by the Town Council. 

37. I confirm that I am happy for the Town Council to retain this 
application form and the personal data contained within it, in 
order to process the grant application. I understand that data 
will be held securely and not passed on to any third parties. I 
am aware that the Town Council’s Privacy Notice and policies 
are available to view on its website. 

Name of Contact: ______________________________________________

Role in Organisation: ___________________________________________

Signature: ____________________________________________________

Date: ________________________________________________________

Page 12



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: Guaranteed Grant Guidance Notes Page 1 of 4 

GUARANTEED GRANT PROCEDURES & GUIDANCE NOTES
Please read the information below in full before completing a Guaranteed Grant 
application form.

SECTION 1: GENERAL INFORMATION

The Town Council is empowered under legislation to offer community grant funding, 
however terms and conditions apply. Please ensure you read the information below to 
determine whether your organisation or project may be eligible before completing the 
application form. 

A. WHAT IS GUARANTEED GRANT FUNDING?
Guaranteed grants are provided for a four-year term and consist of an award per 
financial year of over £500. Organisations need not re-apply each year for funding, but 
must provide a report and a statement of accounts each year to the Town Council. 
Guaranteed grant funding may be used for general revenue or maintenance costs, or 
to fund ongoing projects. 

B. WHO MAY NOT APPLY FOR GRANT FUNDING?
Commercial operations or organisations which offer statutory obligations, for example 
schools. 
Organisations representing the arts and sports should apply separately to the 
Leighton-Linslade Arts Forum or the Leighton-Linslade Sports Council. 

C. HOW MUCH CAN BE APPLIED FOR?
Amounts of over £500 per year. The amount of grant funding to be approved will be 
decided by Committee and may be less than the amount requested. This will be 
determined based on the number of applications received, the available budget and 
the information contained in the applications. Grants are index linked for inflation. 

The grant amount for each financial year will be determined annually by the Grants 
Sub-Committee. Should an organisation’s financial position, structure or purpose 
change significantly during the four year term, the Town Council reserves the right to 
alter or cease the provision of funding. 

Depending on the amount of the grant, a Service Level Agreement may be required. 

D. WHAT TYPE OF ORGANISATIONS CAN BE FUNDED?
Voluntary groups, community associations or registered charities operating on a not 
for profit basis for the benefit of the community in Leighton-Linslade. Organisations 
must have some form of management committee or steering group and a bank 
account with at least two signatories. 

Page 13



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: Guaranteed Grant Guidance Notes Page 2 of 4 

If your organisation has previously received any grant funding from the Town Council, 
a report on grant expenditure must have been provided before a new application can 
be considered. 
Priority will be given to those organisations which can demonstrate a clear financial 
need, which have a wide impact across the community, which have a high level of 
community inclusivity or which support the Town Council’s objectives and aspirations 
for the parish. 
Guaranteed grant funding may also be given to “umbrella” organisations who may then 
re-distribute it to smaller deserving organisations or individuals, or organisations which 
need this type of funding to assist with their own strategic planning.
Organisations should ideally be able to demonstrate longer term sustainability, i.e. 
additional sources of income to assist with future running costs. 
If your organisation is a branch of a larger organisation, it should have a separate 
committee, constitution and bank account and a specific brief for activities benefitting 
the community of Leighton-Linslade. 

E. WHAT WILL NOT BE FUNDED?
Loan repayments; rent; rates, council tax or utilities; insurance costs (other than public 
liability insurance); projects with high ongoing maintenance costs (unless the group 
can demonstrate it has the funds/skills to maintain them in future); religious or political 
groups (unless unrestricted community benefit can be demonstrated); activities that 
are part of statutory obligations, for example curricular activity in schools; activities that 
predominantly support people outside of Leighton-Linslade; projects which have 
already been completed or items already purchased. 

F. WHEN TO APPLY
The deadline for applications for Guaranteed Grant funding for the four year period 
2016-17 to 2019-20 is close of business (4:30pm) on Friday, 22 April 2016. 

G. APPLICATION PROCEDURE
Applications will be considered by the Grants Sub-Committee at a meeting to be held 
on Monday, 9 May 2016 at 1930 hours at The White House. The meeting is open to 
the public and applicants are strongly encouraged to attend and speak in support of 
their application, giving the Committee the opportunity to ask questions.
Applications will be assessed and decisions taken regarding the amount of any grant 
award by the Sub-Committee based on the available budget, the information provided, 
the benefit to the community and the sustainability of the project/organisation. 
Written confirmation of the decisions taken will be provided within ten days of the 
meeting. Cheques will normally be issued to successful applicants within a month of 
the meeting. 

H. TERMS AND CONDITIONS
If there is a serious breach of terms & conditions, if the group ceases to operate before 
funds have been spent, or if a project does not proceed as planned, the grant will have 
to be repaid.

Page 14



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: Guaranteed Grant Guidance Notes Page 3 of 4 

Anyone found to be acting dishonestly in making the application or in spending the 
grant for purposes other than those agreed will be reported to the police and 
prosecution may follow thereafter. 
All applications will be considered by the relevant Committee, where decisions are 
made to approve or refuse applications. The amount of grant funding to be approved 
may be less than the amount requested.  Meetings are open to members of the press 
and public, with meeting minutes published on the Town Council’s website. 
A grant may only be used for the purpose set out in the application form and it cannot 
be given to any other group.
Recognition of any grant made by the Town Council must be made in any publicity 
and in the group’s accounts.
The Town Council may ask you to attend the meeting at which the application will be 
considered and/or to attend a reception to receive the cheque. 
The Town Council reserves the right to amend any policy, procedures and assessment 
criteria for grants at any time. 
Any organisation in receipt of a Guaranteed Grant will be appointed at least one Town 
Councillor as a nominated representative, to attend the group’s committee meetings 
and act as an observer and link to the Council. 

SECTION 2: GUIDANCE NOTES ON COMPLETING THE APPLICATION FORM 

SECTION 1: ORGANISATION AND APPLICANT DETAILS
Question 
no.

Question Guidance notes

1-11 Organisation details Please ensure you have completed all fields 
and provided accurate contact details for the 
main contact person.
Organisations must be non-commercial and 
primarily serve residents of Leighton Buzzard 
and Linslade. Organisations must have a 
constitution or agreed set of rules.
If your organisation is affiliated to a larger or 
national organisation, please confirm whether 
accounts are held separately. 
If your organisation works with children or 
vulnerable adults, please confirm that relevant 
safeguarding policies are in place.

12 Independent referee This should be someone who is familiar with the 
organisation, but is not a 
member/representative of that organisation.
Referees will only be contacted if deemed 
necessary by officers. 

13-16 Financial details and 
amount of grant 
funding requested. 

Please provide as much information as 
possible. 
Priority may be given to organisations which 
can demonstrate their own fundraising activity, 

Page 15



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: Guaranteed Grant Guidance Notes Page 4 of 4 

additional sources of income for the project 
and/or a contribution in kind (e.g. volunteer 
time).
Organisations must have a separate bank 
account with at least two signatories. 
Payment of grant funding will be made by 
cheque or bank transfer. 

17 - 18. Project details Please tell us clearly and concisely the nature 
of your project/activity and how you anticipate 
any grant funding will be used. 
Projects should demonstrate a clear benefit to 
residents of the parish. 
Priority may be given to projects or activities 
which will benefit a significant number of 
residents or which support the Town Council’s 
aims and aspirations for the parish (please see 
the Town Council website (publications page) 
for details of documents such as the Big Plan or 
the Three Year Plan 2015-2018). 

Please note that projects or activities cannot be 
funded retrospectively.

19-21. Supporting 
documents

Please ensure you enclose the required 
documents with your application, or an 
explanation as to why these cannot be 
provided. 
Accounts may be draft if not yet audited.

22-29. Declaration and 
signature

The main contact person for the application 
should initial each point and sign below. 
The Town Council should be recognised in the 
organisation’s accounts and in any publicity 
concerning the project.
A report on grant expenditure should be 
provided back to the Town Council within twelve 
months of receiving the funds. A template report 
will be provided to successful applicants. The 
organisation may also supply a copy of its 
annual report and accounts, where appropriate. 
By signing, you give permission for the Town 
Council to retain and use the information 
provided.
By signing, you acknowledge that you have 
read and understood this guidance document. 
We recommend that the applicant keeps on file 
a copy of these guidance notes for future 
reference.

Should you have any queries not answered above, please contact Leighton-Linslade 
Town Council on 01525 631920.  

Page 16



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: Guaranteed Grant application form  Page 1 of 4

GUARANTEED GRANT APPLICATION FORM

This application form may be used for Guaranteed Grant applications for the four-
year period 2016–17 until 2019-20. 

Please refer to the Guaranteed Grant Procedures and Guidance Notes documents 
when completing this form. 

SECTION 1: ORGANISATION AND APPLICANT DETAILS
1. Name of Organisation

2. Name and address of 
contact for this application.

3. Telephone number/s of 
contact for this application.

4. Email address of contact for 
this application.

5. Status of organisation
(if registered charity, please 
include number)

6. How long has the 
organisation been 
established?

7. Brief description of purpose 
of group.

8. Are you part of/affiliated to a 
larger organisation?

9. How many members do you 
have?

10. Is there an annual 
subscription/membership 
fee?

11. Please provide contact 
details for another senior 

Page 17



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: Guaranteed Grant application form  Page 2 of 4

member of your 
organisation (e.g. a 
committee member)

12. Please provide contact 
details for an independent 
referee (someone who 
knows about the group and 
project but is independent).

If your organisation has a Constitution or set of agreed rules, please enclose 
a copy with this application form. 

SECTION 2: FUNDING
13. Annual Funding requested

14. What other sources of 
funding/income contribute to 
the organisation/project? 
(please specify details)

15. Does the organisation have 
its own bank account with a 
minimum of two signatories?

16. Please confirm account 
name for the cheque, should 
the application be 
successful (or account 
details for bank transfer)

Please include with your application:
a) Accounts for the last two years (draft is fine if not yet audited)
b) Bank account details

SECTION 3: PROJECT DETAILS
17. Please briefly describe 

the project/activity, 
including:

- Where it will take 
place

Page 18



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: Guaranteed Grant application form  Page 3 of 4

- How the 
community of 
Leighton-Linslade 
will benefit

- How the 
project/activity 
supports the 
community

- How have you 
identified the 
need for this 
project?

- How will you 
assess the 
success of the 
project?

- How do you 
anticipate the 
grant funding 
would be used?

(if necessary please 
supply further details on 
a separate single sheet 
of paper)

18. How many people in 
Leighton-Linslade do 
you expect to benefit 
directly from the 
project/activity?

SECTION 4: CHECKLIST
Please enclose the following with your application:
19. Two years of accounts

20. Organisation’s Constitution or set of rules

21. Any other relevant supporting information regarding the 
project

Page 19



Leighton-Linslade Town Council: Guaranteed Grant application form  Page 4 of 4

SECTION 5: SIGNATURE AND DECLARATION
Please initial next to points 22-29 and sign below to acknowledge the terms 
and conditions of submitting this grant application.
No application will be considered unless this section is completed in full and 
signed by the contact person named in Question 2.
22. I declare that the information given is correct to the best of my 

knowledge and that any funds received will be used solely for 
the purpose detailed on this form.

23. I understand that the documentation supplied will not be 
returned and may be made available for public scrutiny.

24. I agree that the grant will be returned if the specified 
project/activity does not proceed as planned.

25. I agree that, if successful, details of the project/activity may 
be published by the Council.

26. I agree to supply a report back to the Council within twelve 
months regarding expenditure of any grant funding (for each 
of the four years of grant funding).

27. I confirm that I have authorisation to apply for a grant on 
behalf of the organisation. 

28. I understand that the information provided on and with this 
application form will be used by the Council to judge whether 
or not to award a grant and that this decision may be made at 
a meeting which is open to the public.

29. I confirm that I have read and understood the Guaranteed 
Grant guidance notes issued by the Town Council. 

Name of Contact: ______________________________________________

Role in Organisation: ___________________________________________

Signature: ____________________________________________________

Date: ________________________________________________________

Page 20



Grants and Awards Task and Finish Group

Date: 14th October 2019 

Title: Awards

Purpose of the Report: To consider future options in respect of Awards, 
following changes in legislation in respect of 
civic awards. 

Contact Officer: Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic and 
Central Services

Corporate Objective/s To consolidate processes and procedures, 
ensuring operational efficiency. 

Implications:
Financial √ Current provision is £300/year
Human Resources
Operational/Service 
delivery
Legal √ Changes in legislation from 

January 2010 as set out in 
NALC’s Legal Topic Note 12

1. RECOMMENDATION

To consider and put forward to the Grants and Awards Sub-Committee 
recommendations in respect of an award scheme to take effect from 2020-
21 onwards. 
  

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 At its meeting held 29 July 2019, the Policy and Finance Committee received a 
report regarding changes in legislation and the potential impact on the Town 
Council’s annual Honorary Burgess award scheme, run since 2006 as a 
mechanism by which to acknowledge and reward long-term voluntary service 
to the benefit of the town. 

2.2 Changes to legislation set out that since 12 January 2010, all local councils 
have had powers to confer the title of “honorary freeman” or “honorary 
freewoman” to persons of distinction and those who, in the council’s opinion, 
have rendered eminent services to the parish (section 249(5) and (6) of the 
Local Government Act 1972). 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



 

Page 2 of 3

2.3 A Legal Topic Note issued in March 2013 by the National Association of Local 
Councils sets out that given this change in powers, it is no longer necessary, or 
possible, for local councils to confer other titles. 

2.4 Advice sought from NALC on this subject stated that it was not possible to 
continue any other scheme which might be perceived to be a civic honour.

2.5 Legal advice sought from the SLCC agreed with this point, but suggested that 
the Council could provide other awards through the General Power of 
Competence, which sets out that Councils may do “anything that individuals 
generally may do”, unless specific legislation is in place to dictate otherwise. 

2.6 The SLCC advice states that an individual could, in theory, give an award to 
recognise voluntary service and recognises that many past and present 
philanthropists have indeed done so. 

2.7 On this basis, the Town Council could continue with an annual award for long-
term voluntary service but this award would need to be clearly designated not 
a civic award, as the only civic award the Council may bestow is that of 
Honorary Freeman or Freewoman of the parish.  

3. AWARD OPTIONS

3.1 Changing the existing Honorary Burgess scheme may be as simple as 
renaming it – but keeping all other aspects such as procedures and eligibility 
(attached as Appendix A) the same – or could incorporate additional changes 
such as the introduction of specific categories of award. 

3.2 A review of the parish/town council sector highlights that a range of names exist 
for volunteer award schemes, including:

“X” Town Awards
“X” Town Council Awards
Community Awards
Volunteer Awards
Community Volunteer Awards
Lifetime Volunteer Awards
Long Service Volunteer Awards
Mayor’s Volunteer Awards
Civic Awards
Honorary Civic Awards
Be Proud Awards
Volunteer Star Awards
Pride of “X” Awards
Community Champion Awards
Citizen of the Year Awards

Page 22



 

Page 3 of 3

The variety and type of naming conventions indicate that many parish councils 
are as yet unaware of the changes in legislation relating to civic awards. 

3.3 Some councils are offering awards in various categories, including for example: 
lifetime service award, young volunteer of the year, employer of the year.

3.4 During the Honorary Burgess scheme, recipients have been awarded an 
engraved medal and a framed certificate. Awards have been presented by the 
Town Mayor, either at a specific ceremony or latterly as part of the Civic Service.

3.5 There is an annual budget provision of £300 within the revenue budget for 
expenses relating to the Honorary Burgess scheme.

4. CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The Task and Finish Group is asked to consider and put forward 
recommendations to the Grants and Awards Sub-Committee for a future award 
scheme from 2020-21 onwards, to include:

- Eligibility criteria
- Procedure
- Nature of award
- Presentation ceremony
- Naming of award
- Budgetary requirements

4.2 The Task and Finish Group may also wish to consider any recommendations in 
respect of celebrating and thanking volunteers generally, outside the scope of 
any specific awards to individuals. 

  

End. 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



. 

PROCEDURE FOR THE
APPOINTMENT OF HONORARY BURGESS OF LEIGHTON–LINSLADE 

‘TITLE OF DIGNITY’ SCHEME

1. Nominations for the Honour of Burgess of Leighton Buzzard and Linslade may 
be made by any resident of the town using the appropriate form. Nominations 
from any individual would normally be restricted to a maximum of two per 
municipal year.

2. Nominations should be received by the Town Council by no later than 31 
October each year.

3. Once the nominations are known, the processing officer should send an 
acknowledgement letter to those making the nominations.

4. Nominations will be considered in closed session at the next scheduled meeting 
of the Grants and Awards Sub-Committee (usually in November).  

5. The Grants & Awards Sub-Committee will review the merits of the nominations 
and determine which should be recommended to the Policy and Finance 
Committee.  There will normally be no more than three recommendations for 
the honour per municipal year.

6. The members of the Grants & Awards Sub-Committee should seek the views of 
other Councillors regarding their knowledge of the nominee and an indication of 
their support or otherwise if the nomination is brought to full Council.  Any 
Councillor may defer his contribution while he seeks advice from contacts in the 
town.  A nomination with significant opposition (to be decided by the Grants & 
Awards Sub-Committee) should not be brought to Council.

7. Once the Grants & Awards Sub-Committee has determined which nominations 
should be put forward to the next stage, the processing officer should write to 
nominators advising of the outcome. 

(a) If the decision is not to proceed, the reasons should be explained. 

(b) If the decision is to recommend the nomination to the Policy & Finance 
Committee, the nominator should be asked to then make contact with the 
nominee, explain the nomination they have put forward and seek the 
nominee’s consent to proceed further. A copy of the Honorary Burgess 
nomination authorisation form should be completed and signed by the 
nominee, giving the Town Council consent to hold their contact details and 
to process the nomination. 

8. Upon receipt of consent from the nominee/s, the nomination/s should be placed 
on the agenda of the next Policy and Finance Committee (usually January) for 
consideration in closed session.  The Policy and Finance Committee should 
then make a recommendation to the next full Council meeting (usually January). 

Page 25



___________________________________________________________________________________________

9. The Chair or other another member of the Grants & Awards Sub-Committee 
should provide a brief report to full Council when recommending the honour, 
citing the reason for the honour and the results of their consideration. Two 
elected Members should move and second the recommendation.

10. Nominations should be accepted, with full Council approval, if the following 
criteria are met:

 the nominee has served the town in one or more voluntary capacities for 
at least seven years, performing services of benefit to the town or some 
vulnerable community within the town
 the nominee is not a serving Councillor, nor has been, during the 
previous term of the Council

Note:  the recognition of the nominee by some other honour, national or local, is 
no bar to appointment as Burgess although the honour of Burgess is primarily 
expected to be used when such other recognition has not been awarded.

11. The full Council should vote on the recommendation by show of hands 'for', 
'against' and 'abstain'.  Normal voting rules will apply.  Although the panel is not 
expected to bring a contentious nomination to Council, a nomination that 
reaches this stage and secures a simple majority will be accepted.

12. Both successful and unsuccessful nominations should be communicated to the 
person nominating and the nominee by the processing officer.  In the case of 
successful nominations,   the nominee's acceptance should be confirmed.

13.  The honour should be recorded on a suitable certificate, to be presented by the 
Town Mayor along with an Honorary Badge. The award presentation will usually 
take place each March. The names of the award recipients should be included 
on a Board of Burgesses to be displayed in the Town Council Office.

14. Subject to consent from the Honorary Burgess recipient, their details may be 
retained in order that they can be advised of and invited to any suitable Town 
Council event, such as Mayoral/civic events and the annual Burgess 
presentation ceremony. 

Procedure approved by the Policy & Finance Committee 18 June 2018 

Page 26


	Agenda
	6 TOWN COUNCIL GRANTS
	GENERAL GRANT GUIDANCE NOTES  v2
	GENERAL GRANT APPLICATION FORM v1
	GUARANTEED GRANT GUIDANCE NOTES  v1
	GUARANTEED GRANT APPLICATION FORM v1

	7 AWARDS
	REVISED Honorary Burgess Procedure June 2018


